

ment of men in the various departments of the Patent Office who are technically trained and understand the sciences as well as the law. Efforts should also be made to secure the appointment of judges whose experience covers a wide field of patent investigation.

Respectfully submitted,

W. A. PUCKNER,
SAMUEL C. HENRY,

F. E. STEWART, *Chairman*,
C. L. ALSBERG,
ROBERT P. FISCHELIS.

COUNCIL BUSINESS

MINUTES OF THE FOURTH SESSION OF THE COUNCIL, 1918-1919 (*Concluded*).

BY-LAWS OF THE WOMEN'S SECTION OF THE AMERICAN PHARMACEUTICAL ASSOCIATION.

ARTICLE I.

Name and Object.

SECTION 1. This Section shall be known as the Women's Section of the American Pharmaceutical Association.

SEC. 2. The object of this Section shall be to emphasize the right and capability of women to engage in pharmaceutical pursuits as a means of livelihood; to unite the women employed in pharmaceutical pursuits for mutual encouragement and assistance; to labor for the improvement of legislation regulating the registration as pharmacists, of the women employed in the practice of pharmacy in hospitals and other public institutions; to unite the women members of the American Pharmaceutical Association and the women of the families of members of the American Pharmaceutical Association in a Section for social purposes; and to coöperate in the promotion of the general progress of pharmacy and of the American Pharmaceutical Association.

ARTICLE II.

Membership.

SEC. 1. Members of this Section shall consist of the women who are regular members in good standing of the American Pharmaceutical Association, and the women who are of the families of regular members in good standing of the Association.

ARTICLE III.

Officers.

SEC. 1. The officers shall consist of a President, three Vice-Presidents, a Secretary-Treasurer, and a Historian, all of whom shall be elected by ballot annually, and shall hold their respective offices for one year and until their successors shall have been elected and qualified. Their duties shall be such as are prescribed in the parliamentary authority of the Section and in these by-laws.

SEC. 2. It shall be the duty of the President to preside at the annual meeting, to appoint all committees not otherwise provided for, to see that the by-laws are observed, and to perform such additional duties as may be delegated to her by the Section or by the Executive Board.

SEC. 3. It shall be the duty of the Vice-Presidents to preside in their order in the absence of the President, and to perform such additional duties as may be imposed from time to time by the Section or by the Executive Board.

SEC. 4. The Secretary shall keep the minutes of the meetings and the records of the Section and of the Executive Board; shall conduct the general correspondence; shall notify all committees of their appointments and of any special duties which may be imposed; and shall also notify officers not present at the time of their election, of their election.

SEC. 5. The duty of the Treasurer shall be to receive and keep an account of the funds of the Section, and pay them out on the order of the Secretary countersigned by the President.

SEC. 6. It shall be the duty of the Historian to record the progress and activities of women engaged in pharmaceutical pursuits in the several states, and to present a report of the matter accumulated at each annual meeting of the Section.

SEC. 7. An Honorary President for the year may be elected at each annual meeting by a vote of two-thirds of the women who are present.

ARTICLE IV.

Executive Board.

SEC. 1. The Executive Board shall consist of the President and the Secretary ex-officio, and three elected members, one of whom shall be elected by ballot at each annual meeting to serve for three years.

SEC. 2. It shall be the duty of the Executive Board to direct the affairs of the Section in the interim between the annual meetings, to arrange the program for the annual meetings and to perform such additional duties as may be imposed upon it by the Section. The Board shall have authority to conduct its business by mail. All acts of the Executive Board shall be subject to revision by the Section. It shall be the duty of the Chairman of the Board to assign and supervise the work of the Standing Committees so that the work may be definite and uniform.

ARTICLE V.

Standing Committees.

SEC. 1. The Committee on Membership and Press, the Outlook Committee, and the Hospital Committee shall constitute the standing committees of the Section.

SEC. 2. The Committee on Membership and Press shall consist of eleven members of the Section, composed of a Chairman, elected by the Section, and ten active workers, who shall be appointed by the President.

SEC. 3. The Outlook Committee shall consist of nine members of the Section, appointed by the President, whose duty it shall be to investigate and report on the work of the women pharmacists, to investigate the education of women students wishing to take up the study of pharmacy and to cooperate with women's clubs.

SEC. 4. The Hospital Committee shall consist of four members of the Section, appointed by the President, whose duty it shall be to investigate and report on conditions of pharmacists in institutional pharmacy.

SEC. 5. The members of all special committees shall be appointed by the President, unless the Section shall prefer to elect.

ARTICLE VI.

Meetings.

SEC. 1. The Section shall hold one regular annual meeting during the annual meeting of the American Pharmaceutical Association, and such additional meetings or sessions as the Section shall determine.

SEC. 2. On the first day of the annual meeting the President shall appoint from the members of the Section a nominating committee of five, and not less than four tellers, to count and report the ballots at the annual election. The Nominating Committee shall report on the same day or a succeeding day, as the Section may direct, nominations for all the officers, for the member of the Executive Board, and for Chairman of the Committee on Membership and Press. Additional nominations may be made from the floor. The elections shall be by ballot, unless, where there is but one candidate for an office, it is dispensed with by unanimous consent. The officers elected who are present shall be installed at the close of the annual meeting.

SEC. 3. Special meetings of the Section may be called by the President at her discretion, and shall be called by her upon written request of the Executive Board, or upon the written request of any five members of the Section.

SEC. 4. Seven members shall constitute a quorum at any meeting of the Section.

ARTICLE VII.

Parliamentary Authority.

Except as herein provided, the proceedings of the Section shall be governed by the general rules of parliamentary law as stated in Robert's Rules of Order, Revised.

ARTICLE VIII.

Amendments.

Amendments to these by-laws shall be proposed in writing at one meeting and balloted for upon a subsequent day, when upon receiving the vote of two-thirds of the members present, they shall become a part of the by-laws.

On motion of J. W. England, seconded by W. B. Day, the following amendment to the by-laws of the Council was presented and in accordance with the by-laws of the Council was directed to be considered at a subsequent session of the Council.

Amend the by-laws of the Council by changing the numbers of Chapters VI, VII and VIII to VII, VIII and IX and inserting a new chapter to be known as Chapter VI entitled "Of Executive Committee," the new Chapter to read as follows:

CHAPTER VI.

Of Executive Committee.

ARTICLE I. The Executive Committee shall consist of three members of the Council holding no other office, to be elected annually by the Council, and the President, General Secretary, Treasurer, Chairman of the Council and Secretary of the Council. The Chairman of the Council shall be the Chairman of the Committee and the Secretary of the Council the Secretary of the Committee.

ARTICLE II. The Executive Committee shall be the executive body of the Council. It shall make recommendations to the Council for the good of the Association and shall have the power to act for the Council when so directed. The Secretary shall report its actions to the Council. When deemed necessary to the Committee, it shall hold meetings at a convenient place between the times of annual meetings, and the traveling expenses of its members shall be paid.

The following resolution was presented by the New York Branch of the American Pharmaceutical Association.

"It is the sentiment of the New York Branch of the American Pharmaceutical Association that the parent body should consider the advisability of going on record as favoring the regulations of the narcotic drug evil, not only by federal and state laws, but also, and particularly, by international agreements had by the U. S. Government with foreign countries."

On motion of H. V. Arny, seconded by J. G. Godding, the Council acceded to the request of the New York Branch.

Chairman Hopp announced the appointment of the following Committee on Nominations to submit later, to the Council, a list of nominations for the standing committees of the Council: Messrs. W. B. Day and J. W. England.

Adjourned until Friday, August 29, 1919 at 2 P.M.

J. W. ENGLAND, *Secretary.*

FIFTH SESSION OF THE COUNCIL, 1918-1919.

The fifth session of the Council of the American Pharmaceutical Association for 1918-19 was held on the Steamboat "Taurus" en route to Coney Island, New York, on Friday, August 29, 1919 at 2.30 P.M., Chairman L. C. Hopp presiding.

Present: Messrs. H. V. Arny, G. M. Beringer, Theo. J. Bradley, E. Fullerton Cook, Wm. B. Day, Clair A. Dye, E. G. Eberle, J. W. England, E. N. Gathercoal, J. G. Godding, S. L. Hilton, L. C. Hopp, Hugo Kantrowitz, E. F. Kelly, J. A. Koch, C. H. LaWall, W. T. Rudd, Clyde M. Snow and H. M. Whelpley.

Applications Nos. 578 to 581 inclusive were presented and favorably acted upon. These were:

- No. 578. Leo A. Whittemore, Grand Rapids, Minn., rec. by E. L. Newcomb and J. W. England.
- No. 579. Sidney C. Yeomans, c/o American Druggists Syndicate, Long Island City, N. Y., rec. by H. M. Whelpley and Wm. B. Day.
- No. 580. A. P. Bethel, 330 E. 2nd St., Oklahoma City, Okla., rec. by J. Leon Lascoff and Charles S. Herron.
- No. 581. Otto Philip Gilbert, 282 City Island Ave., City Island, N. Y., rec. by Hugo Kantrowitz and Hugo H. Schaefer.

The amendment proposed to the by-laws of the Council at the meeting of the Council held August 1919 providing for an Executive Committee of the Council, was considered for final action.

On motion of G. M. Beringer, seconded by E. G. Eberle, the prefatory paragraph, making the necessary changes in the numbers of the Chapters of the by-laws of the Council, was adopted as read.

Articles I and II of Chapter VI were each, on motion of H. M. Whelpley, seconded by S. L. Hilton, adopted as read.

On motion of G. M. Beringer, seconded by W. B. Day, the proposed changes in the by-laws of the Council were adopted as a whole.

The following resolution in reference to Dr. Stewart's contribution was adopted by the Historical Section:

"That Dr. F. E. Stewart's paper be referred to the Council with a request that a special committee be appointed to consider the question of reorganizing the A. Ph. A. to become a delegate body ruled by a House of Delegates."

On motion of W. F. Rudd, seconded by H. V. Army, the question was referred to a special committee of three on reorganization to consider and report to the Council at the next annual meeting.

The following recommendations of Chairman E. N. Gathercoal, of the Scientific Section, in his annual address, were adopted by the Section at its second session on Thursday, August 28, 1919, and referred to the Council:

"That the Scientific Section endorsed and recommended to the Council the following:

1. That an accurate modern index of the 9 volumes of the Proceedings since the fifty-year index be authorized; and that plans be laid for an index of the Year Book and a decennial index of the Journal.

2. That the Association discontinue the Report of the Progress of Pharmacy in the Year Book, but publish the same in monthly installments as a part of the Journal of the Association, or in a new journal, and that all abstracts be published as soon as possible after the publication date of the original paper."

With reference to the first recommendation, the following action was taken:

Moved by G. M. Beringer, seconded by H. V. Army, that the Association compile and publish an index of the publications of the Association covering the Proceedings from 1902 to 1911 inclusive, and the Year Book from 1912 to 1919 inclusive.

With reference to the second recommendation:

On motion of H. V. Army, seconded by E. G. Eberle, it was decided that when the ballots are sent out to the members in November next, for the annual election of officers, etc., a referendum vote be taken on the following questions:

(1) Do you favor raising the annual dues from \$5 to \$7.50 with the understanding that special service features, that are now in contemplation, be established, notably, a monthly publication of Pharmaceutical Abstracts, which shall replace the present Year Book?

(2) Do you favor increasing the annual dues from \$5 to \$6 to include the Year Book?

G. M. Beringer contended that the main question before the Council was: "Shall the Year Book be continued or not?"

The Chairman ruled the point well taken.

G. M. Beringer moved that the recommendations for the discontinuance of the Year Book be laid on the table. Carried.

A division was called for, but the motion prevailed.

The motion made by H. V. Army, and seconded by E. G. Eberle, was then reconsidered and passed.

An additional motion was made by H. V. Army, seconded by E. G. Eberle, that the annual dues be five dollars but without the Year Book; this was not carried.

On motion of H. V. Army, seconded by E. G. Eberle, it was directed that a committee of three of the Council be appointed to carefully prepare the ballot for the referendum vote, and submit the same to the Council for approval before it was sent out.

The question was asked as to the result in the event that a member voted "No" on both

queries, numbers (1) and (2), and the agreement was that it should indicate that the present system shall be continued.

On motion of H. M. Whelpley, seconded by C. A. Dye, it was agreed that an appropriation of \$250 be made for clerical assistance in the Treasurer's office for the next year.

Adjourned to meet Saturday, August 30, 1919 at 9.00 A.M.

J. W. ENGLAND, *Secretary*.

SIXTH SESSION OF THE COUNCIL, 1918-1919.

The sixth session of the Council of the American Pharmaceutical Association for 1918-19 was held at the Hotel Pennsylvania on August 30, 1919 at 9.30 A.M., Chairman Hopp presiding.

Present: Messrs. H. V. Army, T. J. Bradley, C. E. Caspari, E. Fullerton Cook, E. G. Eberle, J. W. England, J. G. Godding, S. L. Hilton, L. C. Hopp, Jeannot Hostmann, E. F. Kelly, J. A. Koch, C. H. LaWall, W. F. Rudd, Hugo H. Schaefer, C. M. Snow, Henry M. Whelpley, Wm. B. Day and Hugo Kantrowitz.

The minutes of the previous meeting were read and approved.

On motion of J. W. England, seconded by C. H. LaWall, the action of the Council on August 29, 1919 on the question of referendum vote and ballot on motions offered by H. V. Army, and seconded by E. G. Eberle, were reconsidered and referred to the incoming Executive Committee for consideration and report to the Council.

On motion of E. G. Eberle, seconded by W. R. White, it was decided to publish the book of Unofficial Formulas, proposed by the Committee on Publication, as soon as feasible, and to adopt the recommendations of the Committee in relation thereto.

The following application for membership was presented:

No. 582. Joseph Hollingsworth, Mount Airy, N. C., rec. by E. G. Eberle and J. W. England.

The application was favorably acted upon.

Moved by Henry M. Whelpley, seconded by S. L. Hilton, that the salary of the Reporter on the Progress of Pharmacy be increased from \$600 to \$750.

At the request of H. V. Army, Reporter on the Progress of Pharmacy, the motion was withdrawn.

On motion of W. F. Rudd, seconded by C. H. LaWall, the Committee on Program was requested, in preparing the program for the annual meeting, to provide that the meeting for the reorganization of the new Council shall be effected at the earliest feasible time after the election of the new Chairmen of the Sections.

Adjourned.

J. W. ENGLAND, *Secretary*.

COUNCIL MEETING, 1919-1920.

The first or re-organization session of the Council of the American Pharmaceutical Association for 1919-20 was held at the Hotel Pennsylvania on Saturday, August 30, 1919, at 10.15 A.M., Chairman L. C. Hopp, presiding.

Present: Messrs. H. V. Army, James H. Beal, G. M. Beringer, T. J. Bradley, Chas. E. Caspari, E. Fullerton Cook, Wm. B. Day, E. G. Eberle, J. W. England, J. G. Godding, S. L. Hilton, L. C. Hopp, Jeannot Hostmann, E. F. Kelly, J. A. Koch, E. H. LaPierre, C. H. LaWall, C. A. Mayo, Clyde M. Snow, F. E. Stewart, Henry M. Whelpley, William R. White, W. O. Richtmann, H. S. Noel, Lucius E. Sayre, Harry Whitehouse, E. A. Ruddiman, and Jacob Diner.

Nominations for general officers of the Council for the ensuing year were made and the following elected:

Chairman—Lewis C. Hopp.

Vice-Chairman—Charles H. LaWall.

Secretary—J. W. England.

Nominations for officers of the Association were made and the following elected:

General Secretary—William B. Day.

Treasurer—Henry M. Whelpley.

Reporter on the Progress of Pharmacy—Harry V. Army.

Editor of the Journal—E. G. Eberle.

Local Secretary—Samuel L. Hilton.

At the suggestion of Chairman L. C. Hopp, Alviso Burdette Stevens, of Ann Arbor, Michigan, was unanimously elected Honorary President of the Association.

Clyde B. Wheeler, Esq., General Counsel of the Anti-Saloon League of America, was introduced by James H. Beal, and invited to address the Council, which he did. He spoke on the legitimate sale of liquors for medicinal use by pharmacists in relation to the prohibition measures now pending of passage in Congress and expressed the opinion that no legitimate pharmaceutical interest would suffer by reason of the passage of such legislation nor be seriously inconvenienced by its administrative features. He expressed his warmest appreciation of the legitimate pharmacist and his service to the general public, and earnestly asked his coöperation in exposing liquor dealers who masquerade as pharmacists and prostituted the profession of pharmacy.

The Committee on Nominations, W. B. Day, *Chairman*, asked for suggestions relative to the Committee on National Formulary and after a number of suggestions had been made, submitted a list of nominees for the committees of the Council for 1919-20, which, on motion of Jacob Diner, seconded by E. G. Eberle, was approved as read.

The list is printed in Council Letter No. 1.

It was agreed that the Committee on National Formulary elect its Chairman and Vice-Chairman.

R. P. Fischelis referred to the resolutions of the War Veterans Section submitted to the Council on August 28, 1919, which were referred to the Committee on Revision of the Constitution and By-Laws, and asked that the action on the resolutions be reconsidered, which was done.

On motion of C. H. LaWall, seconded by H. V. Army, the resolutions were approved as read.

Adjourned.

J. W. ENGLAND, *Secretary*.

A. PH. A. COUNCIL LETTER NO. 1.

PHILADELPHIA, PA., September 15, 1919.

TO THE MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL:

The following is a list of the members of the Council for 1919-20:

MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL 1919-20.

Army, H. V., 115 W. 68th St., New York, N. Y.
 Beal, James H., 801 W. Nevada St., Urbana, Ill.
 Beringer, George M., 5th & Federal Sts., Camden, N. J.
 Bradley, Theo. J., Mass. College of Pharmacy, Boston, Mass.
 Caspari, Charles E., 2108 Locust St., St. Louis, Mo.
 Cook, E. Fullerton, 145 North 10th St., Philadelphia, Pa.
 Day, Wm. B., 701 South Wood St., Chicago, Ill.
 Diner, Jacob, 316 W. 84th St., New York, N. Y.
 Dohme, Alfred R. L., Pratt & Howard Sts., Baltimore, Md.
 Dye, Clair A., Ohio State Univ., Columbus, Ohio.
 Eberle, Eugene G., Bourse Building, Philadelphia, Pa.
 Eldred, Frank R., 3325 Kenwood Ave., Indianapolis, Ind.
 England, Joseph W., 415 North 33rd St., Philadelphia, Pa.
 Fennel, C. T. P., 614 W. Court St., Cincinnati, Ohio.
 Fischelis, R. P., cr Matos Adv. Co. Inc., Philadelphia, Pa.
 Fuller, H. C., 1845 B St., N. W., Washington, D. C.
 Godding, John G., 278 Dartmouth St., Boston, Mass.
 Hensel, Samuel T., Hotel West Court, 1415 Glenarm St., Denver, Colo.
 Hilton, Samuel L., 1033 22nd St., N. W., Washington, D. C.
 Hopp, Lewis C., 1104 Euclid Ave., Cleveland, Ohio.
 Hostmann, Jeannot, 115 W. 68th St., New York, N. Y.
 Kelly, E. F., Lombard & Green Sts., Baltimore, Md.

Koch, J. A., Bluff & Pride Sts., Pittsburgh, Pa.
 LaPierre, E. H., 80 River St., Cambridge, Mass.
 LaWall, C. H., 39 South 10th St., Philadelphia, Pa.
 Mayo, Caswell A., care W. S. Merrell Co., Cincinnati, Ohio.
 Nitardy, F. W., 66 Orange St., Brooklyn, N. Y.
 Noble, Merner J., 500 North Commercial St., St. Louis, Mo.
 Noel, H. S., 3124 Kenwood Ave., Indianapolis, Ind.
 Richtmann, W. O., 1721 Van Hise Ave., Madison, Wis.
 Roehr, Clarissa M., University Hospital, San Francisco, Calif.
 Ruddiman, E. A., 1916 Adelia St., Nashville, Tenn.
 Rudd, Wortley F., 1716 Grove Ave., Richmond, Va.
 Sayre, L. E., University of Kansas, Lawrence, Kans.
 Seltzer, L. A., 32 Adams St., W., Detroit, Mich.
 Snow, Clyde M., 701 South Wood St., Chicago, Ill.
 Stevens, A. B., Escondido, Cal.
 Stewart, Francis E., 11 W. Phil-Ellena St., Philadelphia, Pa.
 Whelpley, Henry M., 2342 Albion Place, St. Louis, Mo.
 White, William R., 314 Hancock St., Nashville, Tenn.
 Whitehouse, Harry, Johnson City, Tenn.
 Wulling, F. J., University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, Minn.

The following committees have been elected by the Council for 1919-20:

COMMITTEES OF THE COUNCIL.

Committee on Finance.

J. A. Koch, *Chairman*, Pittsburgh, Pa. Chas. E. Caspari, St. Louis, Mo.
 G. M. Beringer, Camden, N. J.

Committee on Publication.

J. W. England, *Chairman*, Philadelphia, Pa. C. A. Mayo, Cincinnati, Ohio.
 George M. Beringer, Camden, N. J. H. B. Mason, Detroit, Mich.
 E. L. Newcomb, Minneapolis, Minn.

Ex-Officio Members—The Editor, Reporter on the Progress of Pharmacy, General Secretary and Treasurer.

Committee on Invested and Trust Funds.

Wm. B. Day, *Chairman*, Chicago, Ill. Frederick J. Wulling, Minneapolis, Minn.
 E. G. Eberle, Philadelphia, Pa. H. M. Whelpley, *Ex-Officio*, St. Louis, Mo.

Committee on Centennial Fund.

A. R. L. Dohme, *Chairman*, Baltimore, Md. Wm. B. Day, Chicago, Ill.
 J. A. Koch, Pittsburgh, Pa.

Committee on Transportation.

H. H. Schaefer, *Chairman*, New York, N. Y. J. L. Lengfeld, San Francisco, Cal.
 Lewis C. Hopp, Cleveland, Ohio. E. Floyd Allen, Minneapolis, Minn.
 H. M. Whelpley, St. Louis, Mo. F. C. Godbold, New Orleans, La.
 Charles G. Merrell, Cincinnati, Ohio. S. S. Jacobs, Atlanta, Ga.
 E. F. Kelly, Baltimore, Md. C. Herbert Packard, E. Boston, Mass.
 W. B. Day, Chicago, Ill. Chas. J. Clayton, Denver, Colo.

The General Secretary and Local Secretary, *ex-officio* members.

Committee on National Formulary.

W. L. Scoville, *Chairman*, Detroit, Mich. E. Fullerton Cook, Philadelphia, Pa.
 Clyde M. Snow, Chicago, Ill. H. A. B. Dunning, Baltimore, Md.
 Otto Raubenheimer, Brooklyn, N. Y. Samuel L. Hilton, Washington, D. C.
 Leonard A. Seltzer, Detroit, Mich. Charles H. LaWall, Philadelphia, Pa.
 Harry V. Army, New York, N. Y. George M. Beringer, Camden, N. J.
 H. Engelhardt, Baltimore, Md. P. Henry Utech, Meadville, Pa.
 E. L. Newcomb, Minneapolis, Minn. Bernard Fantus, M. D., Chicago, Ill.
 O. A. Farwell, Detroit, Mich.

Committee on Standards.

Henry Kraemer, Ann Arbor, Mich.....	Term expires 1920
Eustace H. Gane, New York City.....	Term expires 1920
B. L. Murray, Rahway, N. J.....	Term expires 1920
W. A. Puckner, Chicago, Ill.....	Term expires 1920
John G. Roberts, Philadelphia, Pa.....	Term expires 1921
Otto Raubenheimer, Brooklyn, N. Y.....	Term expires 1921
George D. Rosengarten, Philadelphia, Pa.....	Term expires 1921
O. A. Farwell, Detroit, Mich.....	Term expires 1921
George M. Beringer, Camden, N. J.....	Term expires 1922
H. H. Rusby, Newark, N. J.....	Term expires 1922
F. R. Eldred, Indianapolis, Ind.....	Term expires 1922
John M. Francis, Detroit, Mich.....	Term expires 1922
Elmer E. Wyckoff, Brooklyn, N. Y.....	Term expires 1923
J. A. Koch, <i>Chairman</i> , Pittsburgh, Pa.....	Term expires 1923
L. D. Havenhill, Lawrence, Kans.....	Term expires 1923
E. L. Newcomb, Minneapolis, Minn.....	Term expires 1923

Committee on Unofficial Formulas.

Otto Raubenheimer, <i>Chairman</i> , Brooklyn, N. Y.....	Term expires 1920
F. W. Nitardy, Denver, Colo.....	Term expires 1920
C. H. LaWall, Philadelphia, Pa.....	Term expires 1920
W. L. Scoville, Detroit, Mich.....	Term expires 1921
W. H. Glover, Lawrence, Mass.....	Term expires 1921
Curt P. Wimmer, New York, N. Y.....	Term expires 1921
John K. Thum, Philadelphia, Pa.....	Term expires 1922
I. A. Becker, Chicago, Ill.....	Term expires 1922
Clarissa M. Roehr, San Francisco, Cal.....	Term expires 1922
Clarence G. Spalding, New Haven, Conn.....	Term expires 1923
E. Fullerton Cook, Philadelphia, Pa.....	Term expires 1923
William Gray, Chicago, Ill.....	Term expires 1923
J. Leon Lascoff, New York, N. Y.....	Term expires 1924
H. A. B. Dunning, Baltimore, Md.....	Term expires 1924
P. Henry Utech, Meadville, Pa.....	Term expires 1924

Commission on Proprietary Medicine.

J. H. Beal, <i>Chairman</i> , Urbana, Ill.....	Term expires 1920
W. H. Cousins, Dallas, Texas.....	Term expires 1921
John C. Wallace, New Castle, Pa.....	Term expires 1922
Charles E. Caspari, St. Louis, Mo.....	Term expires 1923
S. C. Henry, Chicago, Ill.....	Term expires 1924

American Pharmaceutical Research Committee.

F. R. Eldred, Indianapolis, Ind.....	Term expires 1920
Wilbur L. Scoville, Detroit, Mich.....	Term expires 1920
George M. Beringer, Camden, N. J.....	Term expires 1921
Henry Kraemer, Ann Arbor, Mich.....	Term expires 1921
Julius A. Koch, Pittsburgh, Pa.....	Term expires 1922
Edward Kremers, Madison, Wis.....	Term expires 1922
Charles H. LaWall, Philadelphia, Pa.....	Term expires 1923
H. V. Arny, <i>Chairman</i> , New York, N. Y.....	Term expires 1923
George D. Beal, Urbana, Ill.....	Term expires 1924
H. M. Whelpley, St. Louis, Mo.....	Term expires 1924

Committee on Conservation.

Hugo H. Schaefer, <i>Chairman</i> , New York, N. Y.....	J. A. Becker, Chicago, Ill.
Theodore J. Bradley, Boston, Mass.....	H. A. B. Dunning, Baltimore, Md.
H. C. Fuller, Washington, D. C.	

Advisory Committee for Soldier and Sailor Pharmacists.

Frank H. Freericks, *Chairman*, Cincinnati, Ohio. Edward Spease, Cleveland, Ohio.
 Clarence O. Bigelow, New York, N. Y. H. C. Christensen, Chicago, Ill.
 Charles E. Caspari, St. Louis, Mo.

Committee on Drug Store Classification.

Jacob Diner, *Chairman*, New York, N. Y. F. E. Stewart, Philadelphia, Pa.
 E. F. Kelly, Baltimore, Md. E. Von Hermann, Chicago, Ill.
 L. A. Seltzer, Detroit, Mich.

415 NORTH 33RD STREET.

J. W. ENGLAND, *Secretary*.

A. P. H. A. COUNCIL LETTER NO. 2.

PHILADELPHIA, PA., September 19, 1919.

TO THE MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL:

The following report has been received from Hugo H. Schaefer, Chairman of the Committee on Conservation:

"The question of conservation of drugs, chemicals, etc., so much discussed during the past years of the war, has of late aroused comparatively little interest, yet it is the opinion of this Committee that the subject is still a most vital one and that the work so well begun should not be allowed to reach the dormant stage. The prices of most of the articles in question have not been materially reduced and, therefore, their conservation will save just as much to-day in actual value as it would have done a year ago. If practical conservation was advisable in time of war when waste is to be expected, it is certainly still more advisable in times of peace when the wasteful conditions caused by war are to be remedied. Especially now that the work on the new U. S. Pharmacopoeia is to be begun suggestions ought to be presented to the incoming Revision Committee. With this in view the following outline of possible directions in which practical conservation might be carried out after careful consideration and experimentation, is presented.

Preparations now in the U. S. P. and N. F.: Up to the present it has been impossible to vary from the prescribed formulas since to do so would have meant a violation of the law and possible prosecution no matter how meritorious such changes might be. It is, of course, always dangerous to suggest tampering with old established formulas yet in a good many cases these preparations were originated when conditions were entirely different from what they now are. Some of the ingredients may have since become very scarce while other substances which might advantageously have entered the preparation were absolutely prohibitive in cost years ago; since then, however, becoming abundant and cheap. Changes in formulas causing saving in ingredients might be carried out in a number of ways. First by simply omitting substances which may have simplified the manufacture of the preparation without actually being of any distinct value as, for instance, instead of using Spirit of Peppermint for Mixture of Rhubarb and Soda, the straight oil might be used or possibly equal parts of oil and alcohol thus effecting a distinct saving in alcohol. There are many more illustrations of such omissions which would conserve without lowering quality, but all examples given here are type examples only. Another phase would be that of substituting cheaper ingredients for more expensive ones. Glucose for glycerin in Mixture of Rhubarb and Soda. Diluted acetic acid in place of alcohol in Tincture of Larkspur. Diluted alcohol in place of the pure solvent in a good many spirits and tinctures. The question of including weaker forms of preparations already in the Pharmacopoeia should also be considered. As for instance, a 3½% Tincture of Iodine and a 10% Camphorated Oil could no doubt be used in a good many cases just as effectively as the stronger preparations.

The question of the conservation of crude drugs, however, opens a field larger in opportunities than probably any other. The U. S. P. up to the present has set very high standards, especially in its percentage requirement for ingredients. The result has been that large quantities of otherwise excellent drugs have not been available. Is this proper? Would it not be better to lower the requirements for many drugs and then take correspondingly more for making the preparations? If this were done, however, the high grade drugs would necessarily have to

be diluted with some inert material in order to obtain uniformity. More attention should also be given the requirements calling for the use of only certain portions of a plant, since in a number of cases it has been proven that very often other parts of the same plant are physiologically just as effective.

Assays: Another large saving in money could possibly be obtained by carefully revising the tests and assays in the U. S. P. Most of these as they now stand are probably satisfactory to the manufacturer and wholesaler, but entirely too expensive to the retailer. The former standardize lots which were usually very large and therefore the percentage-cost of assay is small, but the pharmacist buying a small quantity would use entirely too much drugs and reagents as compared to the cost of the original article. The "aliquot" portion method now employed almost exclusively in the U. S. P. IX necessitates throwing away an average of the drug and solvent. Here a saving could be made. Ether and chloroform are used mostly as solvents where probably less expensive volatile chemicals would answer the purpose just as well. The quantity of the substance to be assayed could also in a good many cases be reduced.

Packages: Probably one of the largest savings in the drug trade during the war was caused by standardizing packages and reducing their number. It has been found entirely practicable to abolish many of the less popular sizes of packages of very many preparations and articles of merchandise carried by the retail drug trade. This causes not only a saving to the manufacturer, but also to the retailer, who can thereby carry on his business with less stock and is usually able to sell a more profitable sized article.

In conclusion the Committee respectfully suggests that the following resolution be adopted by the Association:

Resolved: That the suggestions embodied in this report with reference to official preparations be submitted to the Pharmacopoeial Committee for their careful consideration.

Respectfully submitted,

E. FULLERTON COOK,
THEODORE J. BRADLEY,
HUGO H. SCHAEFER.

The Committee on Conservation is a Council committee. The report was not presented to the Council while in recent session at New York, but it can be considered by the Council by mail just as have the reports of other Council committees.

Apparently, the preferable procedure will be to receive the report and refer it to the Committee on U. S. Pharmacopoeia of the Association, rather than directly to the U. S. P. Committee on Revision or to the U. S. Pharmacopoeial Convention.

It is, therefore, moved by W. B. Day, seconded by J. W. England, that the report be received and referred by the Council to the Committee on U. S. Pharmacopoeia.

This will be known as *Motion No. 1 (Report of Committee on Conservation)*.

J. W. ENGLAND, *Secretary*.

A. PH. A. COUNCIL LETTER NO. 3.

PHILADELPHIA, PA., September 20, 1919.

TO THE MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL:

At the recent annual meeting of the American Pharmaceutical Association held at New York, the following by-law was adopted:

CHAPTER VI

of Executive Committee.

ARTICLE I. The Executive Committee shall consist of three members of the Council holding no other office, to be elected annually by the Council, and the President, General Secretary, Treasurer, Chairman of the Council and Secretary of the Council. The Chairman of the Council shall be the Chairman of the Committee and the Secretary of the Council the Secretary of the Committee.

ARTICLE II. The Executive Committee shall be the executive body of the Council. It

shall make recommendations to the Council for the good of the Association and shall have the power to act for the Council when so directed. The Secretary shall report its actions to the Council. When deemed necessary by the Committee, it shall hold meetings at a convenient place between the times of annual meetings, and the traveling expenses of its members shall be paid.

No action was taken at the New York meeting to elect the three non-official members of the Executive Council and it is now in order for the Council to so elect.

Nominations are called for, each member of the Council to nominate not more than three within ten days. The list of nominees will then be submitted to the Council for vote, the three receiving the highest vote to be the ones elected.

415 N. 33RD STREET.

J. W. ENGLAND, *Secretary.*

A. PH. A. COUNCIL LETTER NO. 4
PHILADELPHIA, September 24, 1919.

TO THE MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL:

Motion No. 2 (Election of Active Members).

You are requested to vote on the following applications for active membership:

- | | |
|--|--|
| <p>No. 1. J. Greenville DeLoeme, 17 Main St., Sumter, S. C., rec. by D. T. Riley and E. G. Eberle.</p> <p>No. 2. Herbert Clifton Easterday, 700 N. J. Ave., N. W., Washington, D. C., rec. by H. E. Kalusowski and S. L. Hilton.</p> <p>No. 3. Thomas Benjamin Smith, 111 R. R. Ave., Florence, S. C., rec. by D. T. Riley and E. G. Eberle.</p> <p>No. 4. Albert C. Grant, St. Thomas, N. D., rec. by W. P. Porterfield and Wm. B. Day.</p> <p>No. 5. Mrs. Catherine C. Hickey, 501 3rd Ave., Seattle, Washington, rec. by C. Osseward and J. F. McGogy.</p> <p>No. 6. Edwin Whitney Fenlon, Box 43, Seattle, Wash., rec. by C. Osseward and J. F. McGogy.</p> <p>No. 7. Joseph Hermann Greenwood, 913 Bergen St., Newark, N. J., rec. by Edward A. Wickham and Wm. B. Day.</p> <p>No. 8. Amil P. Lenhart, 402 Main St., Bismark, N. D., rec. by W. P. Porterfield and Wm. B. Day.</p> <p>No. 9. Gustave C. Horns, Mormarth, N. D., rec. by W. P. Porterfield and Wm. B. Day.</p> <p>No. 10. David A. Blackburn, Hansboro, N. D., rec. by W. P. Porterfield and Wm. B. Day.</p> <p>No. 11. Thomas R. Williams, Larimore, N. D., rec. by W. P. Porterfield and Wm. B. Day.</p> <p>No. 12. Clarence Thompson, 146 Main St., Sanford, Me., rec. by Theo. J. Bradley and J. G. Godding.</p> | <p>No. 13. Ana J. Trillo Carballo, Moron, Camaguey, Cuba, rec. by Jose G. Diaz and G. J. Fajardo.</p> <p>No. 14. Eduardo G. Montero Taquechel, Moron, Camaguey, Cuba, rec. by Jose G. Diaz and G. J. Fajardo.</p> <p>No. 15. G. Wallace Grosse, 13972 Clifton Blvd., Lakewood, Ohio, rec. by Edward Spease and A. L. Flandermeyer.</p> <p>No. 16. Allan L. Ritch, 1045 Ocean Ave., Brooklyn, N. Y., rec. by F. W. Nitardy and C. D. Jonge.</p> <p>No. 17. Jacob Buckstein, 14128 Lake Shore Blvd., Cleveland, Ohio, rec. by A. L. Flandermeyer and Wm. B. Day.</p> <p>No. 18. Otto F. Profant, 420 N. Parkside Ave., Chicago, Ill., rec. by Wm. B. Day and Frank Kraemer.</p> <p>No. 19. Hilson H. Whyte, 426 S. 13th St., Philadelphia, Pa., rec. by Paul S. Pittenger and F. E. Stewart.</p> <p>No. 20. Erich Kather, 212 Main St., Wil- liston, N. D., rec. by W. P. Porter- field and E. L. Newcomb.</p> <p>No. 21. Joseph S. Carlitz, 159 N. 2nd St., Philadelphia, Pa., rec. by Charles H. LaWall and Elmer H. Hessler.</p> <p>No. 22. R. G. Minnick, Brooksville, Fla., rec. by W. O. Lemasters and M. M. Taylor.</p> <p>No. 23. Furman Butler McCrackin, Bam- berg, S. C., rec. by D. T. Riley and E. G. Eberle.</p> |
|--|--|

Motion No. 3 (Election of Soldier and Sailor Members). You are requested to vote on the following applications for Soldier and Sailor membership:

- S. S. No. 1. Michael Alfred Murphy, 204 Lemon St., Palatka, Fla., rec. by Frank H. Freericks and J. W. England.

- S. S. No. 2. Leonard J. Wanous, Glencoe, Minn., rec. by Frank Kadlee and F. H. Freericks.
- S. S. No. 3. Denis A. O'Neill, 519 George St., Norristown, Pa., rec. by J. C. Scott and A. J. Smith.
- S. S. No. 4. William Holden Woodward, 17 St. & Greenfield Ave., North, Chicago, Ill., rec. by Frank H. Freericks and J. W. England.
- S. S. No. 5. William James Danforth, 9 Commonwealth Rd., Watertown, Mass., rec. by Frank H. Freericks and J. W. England.
- S. S. No. 6. Charles F. Grove, 204 So. Jackson St., Mobile, Ala., rec. by John G. Adam and John Brothers.
- S. S. No. 7. William Meehan, 327 Crescent Ave., San Francisco, Cal., rec. by Jas. J. Horgan and Frank H. Freericks.
- S. S. No. 8. Floyd Ely Weeks, 503 Clinton Ave., Kalamazoo, Mich., rec. by J. F. Staley and Frank H. Freericks.
- S. S. No. 9. Ernest Kelly Skinner, c/o Grimes and Hurst, Beaumont, Texas. rec. by Frank H. Freericks and J. W. England.
- S. S. No. 10. Thomas Joseph Porra, 3716 N. 26th St., Tacoma, Wash., rec. by A. Faunholt and Frank H. Freericks.
- S. S. No. 11. Albert White, 27 Phillips St., Boston, Mass., rec. by J. B. Pascoe and Frank H. Freericks.
- S. S. No. 12. Thomas Edward Thorpe, Mayer, Ariz., rec. by Frank H. Freericks and J. W. England.
- S. S. No. 13. Charles Sumner Wilkinson, 1202 S. 21st St., Philadelphia, Pa., rec. by Frank H. Freericks and J. W. England.
- S. S. No. 14. Edgar George Woodward, 7106 Monticello St., Pittsburgh, Pa., rec. by Frank H. Freericks and J. W. England.
- S. S. No. 15. Harold Edward Frank, 149 Euclid St., Jamestown, N. Y., rec. by Geo. E. Johnson and Frank H. Freericks.
- S. S. No. 16. Frederick Ness, Dawson, Minn., rec. by Frank H. Freericks and J. W. England.
- S. S. No. 17. James E. Miller, 4777 Moneta Ave., Los Angeles, Cal., rec. by Frank H. Freericks and J. W. England.
- S. S. No. 18. Albert B. Ware, Mayo, Fla., rec. by G. H. Dees and Frank H. Freericks.
- S. S. No. 19. Adolph Prussin, 1208 Fifth Ave., New York, N. Y., rec. by B. Jones and A. Wexler.
- S. S. No. 20. Edwin A. Fricke, Plattsmouth, Neb., rec. by Frank H. Freericks and J. W. England.
- S. S. No. 21. William Francis O'Daniel, Hunnewell, Mo., rec. by Frank H. Freericks and J. W. England.
- S. S. No. 22. Louis Segel, 114 Washington St., Elmira, N. Y., rec. by H. W. Sigmund and O. K. Lindquist.
- S. S. No. 23. F. Elmer Berg, 736 Rebecca Ave., Wilkinsburg, Pa., rec. by Frank H. Freericks and J. W. England.
- S. S. No. 24. Ralph Andrew Carr, 1714 Jefferson St., Philadelphia, Pa., rec. by Frank H. Freericks and J. W. England.
- S. S. No. 25. Oswald Rudolph Carlander, 1029 E. 68th St., Seattle, Wash., rec. by Frank H. Freericks and J. W. England.
- S. S. No. 26. Andrew Ferdinand Engberg, Salem, Utah, rec. by John E. Booth and Joseph Ray Jansen.
- S. S. No. 27. Thomas Jehu Stennis, c/o Brewster's Drug Store, Meridian, Miss., rec. by H. H. Brewster and J. H. Stribling.
- S. S. No. 28. Louis Albert Corstillon, Jr., 705 Ursuline St., New Orleans, La., rec. by Frank H. Freericks and J. W. England.
- S. S. No. 29. Morya Howard Anthony, Ft. Lyon, Colo., rec. by M. H. Ames and Frank H. Freericks.
- S. S. No. 30. David Friedlander, 636 E. 36th St., Los Angeles, Cal., rec. by Mr. Moffit and Mr. Dallinger.
- S. S. No. 31. Joel Virgil McCourt, Cotton Plant, Arkansas, rec. by V. J. McComb and Frank H. Freericks.

- S. S. No. 32. Leonard Albert Meierkord, Waukon, Iowa, rec. by G. J. Carter and L. H. Herman.
- S. S. No. 33. Claude Wright Kemp, Woodlark Blvd., Portland, Ore., rec. by Louis F. Clarke and Frank H. Freericks.
- S. S. No. 34. Guy Clark Dewey Andrews, 187 North Main St., Barre, Vt., rec. by H. C. Heilman and I. Jerder.
- S. S. No. 35. Joseph Sendeki, 14 Marsh St., Newport, R. I., rec. by B. Larson and Frank H. Freericks.
- S. S. No. 36. Waldemar A. Koelbel, 3144 S. Park Ave., Chicago, Ill., rec. by F. G. J. Stielber and Wm. B. Day.
- S. S. No. 37. James Fillmore Smith, 14 King Ave., Florence, S. C., rec. by R. F. Zeigen and D. T. Riley.
- S. S. No. 38. Bruce E. Clark, 115 Beuton Blvd., Kansas City, Mo., rec. by Frank H. Freericks and J. W. England.
- S. S. No. 39. Walter Henry Micklesen, Hudson, Wis., rec. by E. E. Gatchell and H. C. Micklesen.
- S. S. No. 40. William Perry Taylor, Minco, Okla., rec. by Frank H. Freericks and J. W. England.
- S. S. No. 41. Ira J. Smith, 98 State St., Hammond, Ind., rec. by Jos. A. A. Weis and C. R. Niswander.
- S. S. No. 42. Ernest J. Hess, Albion, Neb., rec. by Frank H. Freericks and J. W. England.
- S. S. No. 43. Adolph Arthur Mantey, R. F. D. c/o R. R. Mantey, Fanguane, Tuscala Co., Mich., rec. by Harry Reynolds and Malachi Coombs.
- S. S. No. 44. Charles Bercau Hutsepiller, Burgettstown, Pa., rec. by Frank H. Freericks and J. W. England.
- S. S. No. 45. Albert Louis Larsen, 1315 2nd East St., Salt Lake City, Utah, rec. by W. B. Kelling and Frank H. Freericks.
- S. S. No. 46. Leland Nelson Brown, 5547 Chester Ave., Philadelphia, Pa., rec. by H. B. Hallam and Frank H. Freericks.
- S. S. No. 47. Richard Calvin Shepherd, Carrollton, Ala., rec. by L. A. Welsh and C. R. Anderson.
J. W. ENGLAND,
Secretary.
415 N. 33RD STREET.

A. PH. A. COUNCIL LETTER NO. 5.

PHILADELPHIA, October 7, 1919.

To the Members of the Council:

Motion No. 1 (Reference of Report of Committee on Conservation to Committee on U. S. Pharmacopoeia), Motion No. 2 (Election of Active Members applications Nos. 1 to 23 inclusive) and Motion No. 3 (Election of S. and S. Members; applications Nos. 1 to 47 inclusive), have each received a majority of affirmative votes.

Chairman L. C. Hopp has named the following Committee on Re-organization, directed to be appointed at the Council meeting held August 29, 1919; Dr. F. E. Stewart, J. A. Koch and S. L. Hilton.

Council-Representation by World War Veterans Section: At the recent New York meeting, the World War Veterans Section was established by resolution of the Council; but not by amendment to the by laws of the Association.

The by laws of the Association (Chapter IX) specify the numbers and names of the Sections and define the duties of each, and state, also, that upon approval of the Council additional Sections may be organized from time to time as necessitated; and under Chapter VII, Article II, provide that the Chairmen of the Sections shall be *ex-officio* members of the Council.

The question has, therefore, arisen: "Has a Section created by resolution of the Council and not by amendment to the by laws of the Association the right of Council-representation?"

As the question is without precedent, it was referred to Chairman L. C. Hopp, who rules that the World War Veterans Section is part and parcel of the Association and the Chairman of the Section is an *ex-officio* member of the Council.

Election of Non-Official Members of the Executive Committee: The time-limit having expired for nominations for the three non-official members of the Executive Committee, the election is now in order. The names of the nominees, given alphabetically, are as follows:

H. V. ARNY,
 JAMES H. BEAL,
 GEORGE M. BERINGER,
 THEO. J. BRADLEY,
 CLAIR A. DYE,
 F. G. EBERLE,
 JOHN G. GODDING,
 J. A. KOCH,
 CASWELL A. MAYO,
 H. H. RUSBY.

Each member of the Council is to vote for three—voting card enclosed—the three receiving the highest vote to be elected. The election is for the official year of 1919–20, that is, until the close of the next annual meeting.

The following communication has been received:

RICHMOND, VA., September 9, 1919.

To the Council of the American Pharmaceutical Association:

During the recent annual meeting of the American Pharmaceutical Association, the Virginia delegation organized a branch to be known as the Virginia Branch. John E. Jackson, of Tazewell, Va., was made Chairman and C. F. Walker, 1801 Hull Street, Richmond, Va., Secretary. We now desire to make formal application to the Council for recognition, with the above named officers and W. F. Rudd as our Council-representative.

John E. Jackson, Chairman, Charles F. Walker, Secretary; Morris Phipps; Albert Bolenbaugh; Eugene C. Wilson; Philip F. Fackenthal; Lloyd C. Bird; W. F. Rudd; C. H. Beach; W. W. Rolston; J. Richard Pryde; William W. Thomas; Andrew G. Briggs; R. E. Monroe; E. G. Johann; William P. Harrison; Julian Lichtenstein; E. L. Brandis; A. L. I. Wiune; Samuel Weinstein; R. M. Parker; T. F. Martin; D. E. Seagle; R. S. Hopkins; G. E. Thompson and T. F. Knock.

Motion No. 4 (Organization of Virginia Branch). Moved by E. G. Eberle, seconded by J. W. England, that the organization of the Virginia Branch as above reported be approved.

J. W. ENGLAND,
 Secretary.

415 N. 33rd Street.

A. PH. A. COUNCIL LETTER NO. 6.

PHILADELPHIA, October 20, 1919.

To the Members of the Council:

Motion No. 4 (Organization of Virginia Branch) has received a majority of affirmative votes.

Election of Members of Executive Committee:

The three non-official members of the Executive Committee elected for 1919–20 (Council Letter No. 5) are: James H. Beal, E. G. Eberle and George M. Beringer.

Atlanta Representative of Committee on Transportation: At the first session of the Council for 1919–20 in New York, the Committee on Transportation was elected, and W. S. Elkins, Jr., was named as the representative of Atlanta, Ga. Mr. Elkins is no longer a member of the Association and, therefore, cannot serve as the Atlanta member of the Committee. To fill the vacancy W. B. Day nominates Sinclair S. Jacobs of Atlanta. Are there further nominations?

The American Pharmaceutical Association is a member of the Joint Committee on Horticultural Nomenclature. It has been the custom of the Association to make an annual contribution to the Committee of \$25 and Dr. H. H. Rusby, Chairman, asks that this be done for the year.

Motion No. 5 (Appropriation of \$25 to Joint Committee on Horticultural Nomenclature). Moved by W. B. Day, seconded by J. W. England, that an appropriation of \$25 be made to the Joint Committee on Horticultural Nomenclature.

Attention has been called to the fact that the item of traveling expenses of the budget of appropriations for 1919 is practically exhausted, and it is moved by J. A. Koch, seconded by W. B. Day, that \$78.06 be appropriated to this item. General Secretary Day writes: "So far as I know there will be no further charges against this budget item this year."

The above motion will be known as *Motion No. 6 (Appropriation of \$78.06 for Traveling Expenses of Budget of Appropriations for 1919).*

Motion No. 7 (Election of Active Members). You are requested to vote on the following applications for active membership.

No. 24. Louis A. Robertson, 5912 Page Bldg., St. Louis, Mo., rec. by L. E. Prichard and J. Merner Noble.

No. 25. Henry Rushing Deason, 423 8th St., Nashville, Tenn., rec. by William R. White and E. A. Ruddiman.

No. 26. Phil. D. Johnson, 729 4th Ave. S., Nashville, Tenn., rec. by E. A. Ruddiman and William R. White.

No. 27. Wilbur E. Prann, Timber Lake, So. D., rec. by D. P. Jones and J. M. Stanley.

- No. 28. Herman Peter Reif, 1204 W. Johnson St., Madison, Wis., rec. by H. A. Langenhan and Edward Kremers.
- No. 29. B. Frank Hays, 80 Beekman St., New York, N. Y., rec. by F. W. Nitardy and C. D. Jonge.
- No. 30. Isaac F. Hilliard, Wilmar, Ark., rec. by M. A. Eissele and Frank Schachleiter.
- No. 31. Paul V. Weismiller, Box 49, E. E. Y. M. C. A., Pittsburgh, Pa., rec. by J. A. Koch and Carl Saalbach.
- No. 32. Henry Bennett, 260 Scott St., Wilkes-Barre, Pa., rec. by Walter Banker and E. R. Owens.
- No. 33. A. D. Morgan, 582 S. Franklin St., Wilkes-Barre, Pa., rec. by Walter Banker and E. R. Owens.
- No. 34. Arthur Price, 11201 St. Clair Ave., Cleveland, Ohio, rec. by A. L. Flandermeier and Edward Spease.
- No. 35. William T. Barnett, 116 E. Main Street, Blytheville, Ark., rec. by M. A. Eisele and Frank Schachleiter.
- No. 36. Will Elmer Nixon, 1200 Main Street, Little Rock, Ark., rec. by M. A. Eisele and Frank Schachleiter.
- No. 37. Paul Hertzberg, 379 Greene Ave., Brooklyn, N. Y., rec. by Wm. B. Day and J. W. England.
- No. 38. Florenz Charles Godt, 422 S. 18th St., Ft. Smith, Ark., rec. by M. A. Eisele and Frank Schachleiter.
- rec. by William R. White and E. A. Ruddiman.
- S. S. No. 53. Richard Henry Kirby, 2113 Church St., Nashville, Tenn., rec. by William R. White and E. A. Ruddiman.
- S. S. No. 54. James Wharton Brown, 2509 Oakland Ave., Nashville, Tenn., rec. by William R. White and E. A. Ruddiman.
- S. S. No. 55. Otto Louis Schroeder, 84 Moffat St., Brooklyn, N. Y., rec. by Frank H. Freericks and J. W. England.
- S. S. No. 56. Norval Burnis Fast, 438 College St., E. Liverpool, Ohio, rec. by T. C. Flock and W. S. Henderson.
- S. S. No. 57. Henry Clyde Hisey, Main St., Shenandoah, Va., rec. by C. Clifton Crukman and E. Y. Hudson.
- S. S. No. 58. Ellsworth Peter Marshall, 83 Center St., Perth Amboy, N. J., rec. by J. J. Buckley and Jean L. A. Hammell.
- S. S. No. 59. Harry Raymond Greenleaf, Downingtown, Pa., rec. by Adley B. Nichols and Charles H. LaWall.
- S. S. No. 60. Edward Sheridan Sullivan, 108 Main St., Gloucester, Mass., rec. by Francis J. Long and H. Cooper.
- S. S. No. 61. Samuel Shrewsbury Lewis, R. F. D. No. 2, Sta. B, Bonabel Place, New Orleans, La., rec. by W. G. Steachnan and Frank H. Freericks.
- S. S. No. 62. John B. Bustetter, Elm & Canal Sts., Y. M. C. A., Cincinnati, O., rec. by Frank H. Freericks and J. W. England.
- S. S. No. 63. Manual Schwartz, 1700 N. 5th Ave., Birmingham, Ala., rec. by W. E. Manning and Frank H. Freericks.
- S. S. No. 64. Charles S. Gutzeit, 362 Jackson St., Philadelphia, Pa., rec. by Elmer H. Hessler and Ivor Griffith.
- S. S. No. 65. Melvin O. Peck, Coloma, Mich., rec. by A. W. Baker and Fred L. Scott.
- Motion No. 8 (Election of Soldier and Sailor Members).* You are requested to vote on the following applications for soldier and sailor membership:
- S. S. No. 48. Paul Joseph Mackay, 2306 East 103rd Street, Cleveland, Ohio, rec. by Edward Spease and R. E. Potter.
- S. S. No. 49. Morris Aaron Aarons, Mass. and Atlantic Ave., Atlantic City, N. J., rec. by M. R. Ost and Frank H. Freericks.
- S. S. No. 50. Rafael Rivera, Casa Blanca, San Juan, Porto Rico, rec. by F. Emmanuelli and J. M. Baptiste.
- S. S. No. 51. William Edward Hooser, 910 4th Ave. S., Nashville, Tenn., rec. by William R. White and E. A. Ruddiman.
- S. S. No. 52. Lloyd Scudder Cummins, 915 Russell St., Nashville, Tenn.,

- S. S. No. 66. Paul Joseph Mackay, 2306 East 103rd Street, Cleveland, Ohio, rec. by E. Spease and R. E. Potter.
- S. S. No. 67. Samuel J. Kellett, Manning, S. C., rec. by Frank H. Freericks and J. W. England.
- S. S. No. 68. Bloomfield Sisom, 137 W. Broad St., Burlington, N. J., rec. by E. W. Adams and J. W. England.

J. W. ENGLAND,
Secretary.

415 North 33rd Street.

A. PH. A. COUNCIL LETTER NO. 7.

PHILADELPHIA, November 12, 1919.

To the Members of the Council:

Motion No. 5 (Appropriation of \$25 to Joint Committee on Horticultural Nomenclature), Motion No. 6 (Appropriation of \$78.06 for Traveling Expenses of Budget of Appropriations for 1919), and Motion No. 7 (Election of Active Members; numbers 24 to 38 inclusive) and Motion No. 8 (Election of S. and S. Members; applications Nos. 48 to 68 inclusive), have each received a majority of affirmative votes.

Motion No. 9 (Election of Atlanta Representative of Committee on Transportation). Moved by W. B. Day, seconded by E. G. Eberle, that Sinclair S. Jacobs of Atlanta, Ga., be elected the Atlanta representative of the Committee on Transportation for 1919-20.

At the final general session of the Association for 1918-19 held at New York on August 30, 1919, H. M. Whelpley stated that he was a member of a committee, appointed by the Council, to confer with the officers of the newly formed World War Veterans' Section relative to continued work in behalf of the soldier and sailor pharmacists. The speaker said that the committee of which he was a member was to have had another session, but time did not permit, prior to adjournment of the Association. The officers had summarized the situation

and made a request for two thousand dollars for carrying on the work during the year. Instead of looking ahead twelve months, he, individually, recommended that, with the approval of the Council and the Finance Committee, five hundred dollars be provided for carrying on the work of the Section. If at the end of three months the work is such that the Council feels justified in making further appropriations, this can be done.

Caswell A. Mayo moved that the recommendation made by H. M. Whelpley be referred to the Council, seconded by Hugo Kantrowitz. Carried.

The appropriation proposed has received the approval of the Finance Committee.

Motion No. 10 (Appropriation of \$500 to War Veterans Section). Moved by E. G. Eberle, seconded by C. H. LaWall, that five hundred dollars be appropriated for carrying on the work of the Section for three months as provided for in recommendation made to the Association on August 30, 1919.

A communication has been received from Prof. Alexander Tschirch of Bern, Switzerland, Honorary Member of the American Pharmaceutical Association, asking if the University of Bern could be supplied with certain numbers of the Year Book and Journal which had not been received by reason of War conditions. The missing Year Books are Vol. I to 6, and of the Journal are, Vol. I, No. 1 to 10; Vol. II, No. 8 to 11; Vol. III, No. 1 to 7, 9 to 11; and Vol. IV, No. 2 to 6.

Section No. 11 (Donation of Year Books and Journals to University of Bern). Moved by Dr. A. R. L. Dohme, seconded by W. B. Day, that the Year Books and Journals desired by Prof. Tschirch for the University of Bern be forwarded to him with the compliments of the American Pharmaceutical Association.

J. W. ENGLAND,
Secretary.

415 North 33rd Street.